STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

06-24-2019

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP53-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DENNIS BRANTNER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

# FIRST-BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONER-APPELLANT-DEFENDANT

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Circuit Court for Fond du Lac County, the Honorable Peter L. Grimm Presiding.

Taylor Rens
State Bar No. 1098258
P.O. Box 14218
West Allis, WI 53214
(414) 810-2678
trens@krlawwi.com
Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

###

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. When an individual is arrested in one county with controlled substances on his person and transported in police custody to a different county where the substances are removed from the individual's person during the booking process, does a trial for possession of the controlled substances in the destination county violate the individual's rights under Article I, Section VII of the Wisconsin Constitution and Wis. Stat. § 971.19?

In its decision the court of appeals concluded that the rights to venue and to be tried by a jury of the vicinage were not violated because the criminal defendant could have dispossessed himself of the controlled substances prior to entering the adjudicating county by telling the police officers the substances were on his person. (App. 3-4).

II. Do the United States and Wisconsin Constitutional protections against double jeopardy bar the State from punishing a criminal defendant twice for violations of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(am) for possessing pills containing different doses of the same substance at the same time?

In its decision, the court of appeals concluded that possession of different sizes of pills at a single point in time suggests that the criminal defendant committed separate volitional acts to obtain the pills and therefore separate punishments for the possession of each pill did not violate either the Wisconsin or United States Constitution. (App. 5).

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for cases decided by this court.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts in this case are simple and largely undisputed. On March 27, 2015, Dennis Brantner exited a courtroom in the Kenosha County Courthouse to find two Fond du Lac County sheriff's deputies waiting in the hallway with a warrant for his arrest in connection with a homicide that occurred in 1990. (R.70: 124; App. 6).

Brantner and his attorney were leaving a hearing before Kenosha County Circuit Court Judge Chad G. Kerkman. The hearing was in a case that was filed about a year earlier after the Fond du Lac County Sheriff's Office discovered an in-operable antique hunting rifle while executing a search warrant at Brantner's home in Kenosha. (R.72: 25). The rifle was a family heirloom passed down to Brantner's fourteen-year old son who lived in the home along with his mother and longtime partner of Brantner, Diane Epping. (Id. at 24-25; R.70: 164). Based on the presence of the rifle in the home, Brantner was charged with felon in possession of a firearm. (R.70: 164).

The encounter in the hallway outside Judge Kerkman's courtroom was not the first time Brantner and his attorney met the arresting officers. (R.72: 20-21). For over a year Brantner had been cooperating in their homicide investigation, voluntarily appearing for multiple rounds of interviews and fingerprinting. (Id). He had also repeatedly provided assurances that he would voluntarily report to the Fond du Lac County jail upon receiving notice of a warrant for his arrest. (Id). Nonetheless, the Fond du Lac County Sheriff's Office sent deputies to Kenosha County to retrieve Brantner by force and surprise. (Id).

Upon exiting the courtroom, Brantner was immediately handcuffed with a belly belt, patted down, and then his pockets were searched. (R.70: 125-129; App. 7-11). He asked to briefly speak with attorney Powell before being transported away but was not allowed to. (Id. at 211). Instead, the officers escorted him out of the courthouse and into the backseat of their squad car. (Id. at 130; App. 12).

On the way to Fond du Lac, one officer sat next to Brantner in the backseat while the other office drove. (Id). Brantner remained in handcuffs for the entire drive. (Id. at 132; App. 14). When they arrived at the Fond du Lac County jail over two hours after their departure,

Brantner was ordered to remove his clothes as part of the booking process. (Id. at 132-33, 204; App. 14-15). He complied, and when he handed his left boot over to one of the officers, she immediately removed a plastic baggie containing an assortment of pills. (R.70: 77-78).

Roughly five months later, Brantner was returned to Judge Kerkman's courtroom for sentencing on the firearms charge and received a time served jail sentence of approximately eighty days. (R.72: 25). The following week, the Fond du Lac County District Attorney initiated this case with a ten-count criminal complaint. (R.72: 25).

The district attorney threw the book at Brantner, and then some. The complaint alleged a total of ten counts: five possession counts and five corresponding bail jumping counts. (R.1:1). Most notably here, the complaint charged Brantner with two counts of possession of oxycodone in violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(am). Count one charged Brantner with "possession of oxycodone pill, five milligram", while count three charged "possession of oxycodone pill, twenty milligram." All five possession counts also included a penalty enhancer under Wis. Stat. § 961.495 for possession of controlled substances within 1000 feet of the jail in Fond du Lac County. (Id.).

At the preliminary hearing, Judge Richard J. Nuss presiding, Brantner moved to dismiss all charges on the basis that prosecuting Brantner in Fond du Lac County violated his right to a trial in the county where the alleged crimes were committed. (R.67: 27-28). He argued that his possession of the pills terminated when he was taken into custody in Kenosha County, and therefore, it was improper to bring charges in Fond du Lac County. (Id.). Judge Nuss denied the motion and ordered Brantner bound over for trial. (Id. at 29-30). Brantner then filed a motion to dismiss for defective bind-over, again arguing that Fond du Lac was an improper venue. (R.10). Judge Peter L. Grimm held a hearing on the motion and denied it. (R.15, R.68).

No meaningful plea bargaining followed. (R.70: 5). The negotiations started and ended with a take-it or leave-it offer from the district attorney to dismiss all charges in this case in return for a guilty plea in the homicide case. (Id.). Brantner swiftly rejected the offer and the case proceeded to a trial, which was held on held on January 6 and

7, 2016. (Id.; R. 71). Just before voir dire started, the district attorney voluntarily dismissed the penalty enhancers under § 961.495 without explanation. (Id. at 28-30). The jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts. (R.28-37).

At the end of trial, defense counsel moved to dismiss counts one and two for being multiplications to counts three and four and to dismiss all charges due to lack of sufficient evidence to establish that Fond du Lac County was a proper venue. The court denied both motions. (R.70 at 214-221). On the venue issue, the court reasoned that there was sufficient evidence in the record such that a reasonable jury could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Brantner had "actual physical control" of the pills in Fond du Lac County. (Id. at 220-21).

On the multiplicity issue, the trial court reasoned that the State presented evidence showing distinct factual differences between the pills. The court noted that the evidence showed differences in "color, size, markings, and they [had] different milligrams thereto." (Id. at 217). The court went on to reason that the prosecution has wide discretion in charging crimes and that the differences between the five milligram and twenty milligrams pills were sufficient to support separate convictions. (Id. at 218).

Brantner was not sentenced until July 12, 2016, roughly seven months after trial and just after the State's thirteen-day homicide trial against Brantner ended in a hung jury. (R.72 at 19-20). On the morning of the hearing, the district attorney filed the transcript of the preliminary hearing in the homicide case and requested that Judge Grimm consider it in assessing Brantner's character for sentencing purposes. (Id. at 3).

Judge Grimm noted that he was not surprised by the district attorney's attempt to have Brantner punished in this case for the homicide charge since the district attorney had failed to obtain a conviction in that case. (Id. at 7). Judge Grimm explained that given "how [the district attorney] views this case vis-a-vis the other case and the State's posture of plea bargaining and motivations, it's been pretty obvious that this type of argument was going to come forward from the State, and I certainly expected it." (Id.). The court declined the

request to consider the homicide charge in sentencing Brantner. (Id. at 7, 55-56).

The district attorney began his sentencing argument by asking to court to find Brantner ineligible for the Substance Abuse Program while incarcerated because "there has been no description of him abusing controlled substances." (Id. at 11). Despite his acknowledgment that Brantner has no history of controlled substance abuse, the district attorney proceeded to recommend a thirty-three-year prison sentence comprised of sixteen years and one-month initial confinement plus seventeen years extended supervision, despite

Defense counsel argued for a 180-day jail sentence. (Id. at 28-29). He began his remarks by reiterating the circuit court's observations about the district attorney's motivations:

Well, the State's recommendation I think is, frankly, a pretty transparent recommendation for this Court to substitute its sentence in this case for a case that the State hasn't been able to prove in a different courtroom. It is triple the PSI's recommendation, which I think is far in excess of what's necessary in this case.

(Id. at 19-20).

The court sentenced Brantner as follows. For counts one, two, five, seven, and nine, Brantner received five consecutive prison sentences totaling thirteen years and seven months, including six years and seven months initial confinement and seven years extended supervision. (Id. at 58-59). For counts one (possession of oxycodone, twenty milligram pill) and five (possession acetaminophen/hydrocodone) the court imposed consecutive sentences of one-year initial confinement followed by two years of extended supervision. (Id. at 58). On count two (bail jumping), the court sentenced Brantner to three years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision. (Id. at 59). For count seven (possession of zolpidem) the court imposed a thirty-day jail sentence, and for count nine (possession of prescription) a sentence of one hundred-and-eighty days jail. (Id.)

For counts three, four, six, eight, and ten, the Court placed Brantner on probation for a total of eleven years, consecutive to the prison sentences. (Id. at 57). On counts three (possession of oxycodone, five-milligram pill) and four (bail jumping), the Court imposed and stayed sentences of one year of initial confinement with two years of extended supervision and one-year initial confinement with three years of extended supervision respectively. (Id. at 59). On the remaining three bail jumping counts, the court withheld sentencing. (Id.). All told, the Court ordered Brantner remain in DOC custody until the age of eighty-eight. *Compare* (R.3: 1) *with* (Id. at 59) (Id. at 59).

Brantner filed a post-conviction motion in the circuit court raising two issues. First, the multiple punishments imposed for possession of a single controlled substance violated his constitutional protections against double jeopardy. (R. 59 at 1). Second, Fond du Lac County was an improper venue under the Wisconsin Constitution and statues. (Id.). The circuit court denied the motion in a decision and order dated December 12, 2017 (R.61). With respect to the multiplicity issue, the circuit court reasoned that the charges were not multiplicitous because of the differences in the physical characteristics of the pills. (R.81 at 9-10; App. 15-16). The court went on to say:

So this case is one of first impression and could be the first test case in the state and country on this point . . . If this is a test case to see whether the State can use this charging method to help stem the problem of addictions for opioids and overdoses, then we're going to find out. I think the State's arguments carry the day here, notwithstanding the traditional analysis of multiplicitous charges and violations of double jeopardy.

(R.81: 15; App. 21).

With respect to the venue issue the circuit court reasoned that Fond du Lac County was a proper venue because Brantner knew that the pills were in his boot and did nothing to dispossess himself of the pills. (R.81:16; App. 22). Specifically, the court stated, "I'm not saying he has to confess to a crime, but he could have done oral statements

to avoid the predicament . . . After being arrested and cuffed, all the events that happened thereafter were all foreseeable." (Id.).

Filed 06-24-2019

appealed the circuit court's ruling on Brantner postconviction motion, again raising both the multiplicity and venue issues. (App. 1). The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision in a summary disposition on January 2, 2019. (Id.). In its decision, the court of appeals reasoned that the oxycodone charges were not multiplications because the difference in the sizes of the pills "suggests that [Brantner] committed separate volitional acts to obtain them." (Id. at 5). The court did not cite any authority in support of its proposition, nor did it elaborate upon its reasoning. (Id.). Also, the court of appeals reasoned that Fond du Lac County was a proper venue because Brantner had the opportunity to tell the police that the pills were on his person. (Id. at 4).

Finally, Brantner asks the Court to take judicial notice that on February 2, 2018, the homicide case against Brantner, 15-CF-176, was resolved by a plea agreement under which Brantner entered an Alford plea to second degree reckless homicide. On March 2, 2019, he received a ten-year prison sentence under the sentencing scheme in effect in 1990, which was imposed consecutive to the sentence in this case.

Additional facts are incorporated into the Argument section below.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for whether there was sufficient I. evidence to establish that Fond du Lac County was a proper venue is *de novo*. This case involves application of undisputed facts to statutes and the constitutions of the United States and Wisconsin. Generally, the standard of review for issues regarding sufficiency of the evidence is extremely deferential to the trier of fact. See State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). However, in this case all of the applicable facts are undisputed. When all of the material facts are undisputed, their application to the applicable law is solely an issue of law and is reviewed de novo. State. v. Perry, 215 Wis. 2d 696, 706, 573 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1997) ("challenging the trial court's

interpretation of a statute and its application to facts which are largely undisputed."); *State v. Seibel*, 163 Wis. 2d 164, 171-72, 471 N.W.2d 226 (1991) (when the material facts of a search are undisputed, the question of whether the search violated the Fourth Amendment is one of law); *State v. Williams*, 104 Wis. 2d 15, 21-22, 310 N.W.2d 601 (1981).

II. The standard of review for deciding whether counts one and two were multiplications to counts three and four in violation of the Double Jeopardy clause is also *de novo*. The issue involves the interpretation of the constitution and statutes as they apply to undisputed facts and is therefore an issue of law a subject to *de novo* review. *See Perry*, 215 Wis. 2d at 706.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Judgement of Conviction Against Dennis Brantner Must be Vacated Because the Offenses Were Not Committed in Fond du Lac County as a Matter of Law.

Article I, Section VII of the Wisconsin Constitution states:

In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right to be heard by himself and counsel; to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him; to meet the witnesses face to face; to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his behalf; and in prosecutions by indictment, or information, to a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district wherein the offense shall have been committed; which county or district shall have been previously ascertained by law.

The italicized language above is nearly identical to the language used in the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. The Sixth Amendment guarantees the right "to a trial by an impartial jury . . . of the *state and* district wherein the crime shall have been committed." (Emphasis added). The location of federal

criminal proceedings is also governed by Article III, Section II of the Constitution, which states, "The trial of all crimes . . . shall be held in the state where the said crimes shall have been committed; but when not committed within any state, the trial shall be at such place or places as the Congress may by law have directed." Art. III, § 2, cl. 3. See also, Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 18. This provision operates as a jurisdictional limit on federal courts in criminal proceedings. See Blume, The Place of Trial of Criminal Cases: Constitutional Venue and Vicinage, 60 Mich. L. Rev. 59, 89-90 (1944).

The Sixth Amendment right to a trial by a jury "of the state or district wherein the offense shall have been committed" is one of the few rights included in the Bill of Rights that has not been incorporated onto the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. See, e.g., Engel, The Public's Vicinage Right: A Constitutional Argument, 79 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 1658, 1706-07 (2000). Moreover, the Wisconsin Constitution does not include a corresponding limit on the jurisdiction of Wisconsin courts in criminal proceedings. However, the early decisions of this Court established that Art. I, Sec. VII "secures" the common law rights to be tried in the county where the offense was committed by a jury of the county where the offense was committed. In re Elrod, 46 Wis. 530, 1 N.W. 175, 183 (1879) ("The venue of indictments rests upon fundamental law, as old as the Magna Charta, entering to the provision of the constitution of the state."); State v. Pauley, 12 Wis. 537, 540 (1860) (The provision "was intended merely as the enactment of the general rule of the common law, that every offense shall be triable only in the county where committed."); State ex rel. Brown, 60 Wis. 587, 19 N.W. 2d 429 (1884) (The provision "defines and limits the locality from which a jury must be taken" and "secures [] the right of a trial within the same limits."); Wheeler v. State, 24 Wis. 52, 54 (1869) (The statute authorizing change of venue on prosecutor's motion over the defendant's objection "is in conflict with the constitution, and void."). Under Art. I, Sec. VII, the common law right to venue is inextricably intertwined with the right "a trial" and the right to "an impartial jury of the county;" See id; see also Blume, 60 Mich. L. Rev. at 89-90

(discussing constitutions of Wisconsin and the twelve other states which provided for trial in the "county or district."); but see, State v. Mendoza, 80 Wis. 2d 122, 138 n.3, 258 N.W. 2d 260 (1980) (dicta) (The provision "does not restrict venue. Rather, it restricts the locale from which the jury can be picked.").

The defendant's right to venue in criminal cases serves two separate policy functions. See Blume, The Place of Trial of Criminal Cases: Constitutional Venue and Vicinage, 60 Mich. L. Rev. 59, 59-67 (1944) (discussing the history of the defendant's right to venue in criminal proceedings.) The right to venue advances the defendant's interest in the fair administration of justice because the location where the crime was committed is the location where the offense was committed is the location where witnesses and evidence are most likely to be found. See id.; United States v. Johnson, 323 U.S. 273, 278-79 (1944). In a similar vein, the right protects the defendant against the additional costs and inconvenience that often exist when a defendant is forced to defend against charges at a far-off location from where he was arrested. See id.

The second policy is more well-know because of the role it played in sparking the Revolutionary War. See United States v. Cabrales, 524 U.S. 1, 6 (1998). The right to venue is also intended to prohibit the tyrannical, abusive government practice of forum selection in criminal cases. See id. It was the violation of this aspect of the right to venue by the British which led to the colonists to list the need for such a right in the Declaration of Independence. See id. The need to preclude the government from having any opportunity to adjust its actions or decision making in order to achieve a more favorable venue in criminal cases cannot be overstated. Allowing the government to choose the venue for criminal proceedings after-thefact is, and always has been, counted among the greatest threats to individual liberty. See id.

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