RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-14-2019

Case No. 2018AP53-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DENNIS BRANTNER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE FOND DU LAC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PETER L. GRIMM, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2796 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) kumferle@doj.state.wi.us

Filed 08-15-2019

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

It is the trier of fact that decides which evidence is worthy of belief, which evidence is not, and how to resolve any conflicts in the evidence. *State v. Wilson*, 149 Wis. 2d 878, 894, 440 N.W.2d 534 (1989). Therefore, when more than one inference can reasonably be drawn from the evidence, the inference that supports the trier of fact's verdict must be the one followed on review. *State v. Allbaugh*, 148 Wis. 2d 807, 809, 436 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1989); *see also Smith*, 342 Wis. 2d 710, ¶ 31.

A reasonable juror could find that venue in Fond du Lac County was proper in this case.

The State charged Brantner with five counts of possession of controlled or prescription substances pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g). The jury instructions define "possessed." They state that "possessed" means any of the following:

- 1. The "defendant knowingly had actual physical control of a substance;"
- 2. The substance "is in an area over which the person has control and the person intends to exercise control over the substance."
- 3. The "person exercises control over a substance." Wis. JI–Criminal 6030 (2016).

First, because a rational view of the evidence permits a finding that Brantner committed the entire crime of possession in Fond du Lac County, venue can be quickly established under Wis. Stat. § 971.19(1), providing for trial in the county where the offense was committed—which would also foreclose Brantner's constitutional claim even if he were correct about the construction of Article I, § 7.

The State introduced testimony from Detectives Vergos and LaMotte that when they encountered Brantner at the Kenosha County Courthouse, they informed Brantner that he was under arrest. They then asked him if he had anything on him they "should know about." (R. 70:87.) Brantner did not tell the officers about the pills in his boot. (R. 70:87.) The officers patted Brantner down for safety and did not find the pills. (See R. 70:87–88.) He still said nothing. Vergos testified that if Brantner had told him about the pills when the officers arrested him, he "would have turned them over to one of the Kenosha County deputies that were standing there for their own processes" and there "would have been no reason" to charge Brantner in Fond du Lac County. (R. 70:135.) Brantner did not tell the officers about the pills at any point in the squad car, or when they walked into the booking area of the Fond du Lac County Jail. Vergos offered to help him remove his boot, and Brantner refused, saying he wanted to do it himself. He knew the pills were there and took care not to let Vergos near his boot.

This is sufficient evidence for the jury to find that Brantner had actual physical control of the pills up to the point when he gave his boot to the booking officer in the Fond du Lac County Jail. It is also sufficient to show that the pills were in an area over which Brantner had control—his boot—and that he intended to exercise control over the substances. Brantner obviously knew that he had the pills. He did not tell the officers that he had them, which shows that he intended to keep control of them if he could. He went out of his way *not* to let the officers know he had the pills, and tried to keep Vergos away from his boot. That shows intent to exercise control over the pills.

Alternatively, § 971.19(2) also applies because, as Brantner has conceded on several occasions, possession is a continuous offense. (Pet. 15; R. 81:6). *State v. Elverman*, 2015 WI App 91, ¶¶ 37–38, 366 Wis. 2d 169, 873 N.W.2d 528. Even if Brantner's possession began in Kenosha

Filed 08-15-2019

County, he committed a continuous act of possession by intentionally failing to tell the officers about the pills in his boot, meaning he only relinquished possession of them when he handed his boot to the booking agent at the jail.

The jury had sufficient evidence to find that Brantner possessed the pills in Fond du Lac County.

2. Brantner has made no argument that the evidence was insufficient to find venue beyond a reasonable doubt.

Brantner does not acknowledge that he had control over where the officers learned about the pills and therefore had the option not to possess them in Fond du Lac County. (See Brantner's Br. 16–22.) Instead, he argues that he did not have actual physical control over the pills because he was brought to Fond du Lac County while handcuffed, and therefore "[h]e could not do anything [with the pills] except leave them right where they were." (Brantner's Br. 19). But as the jury instructions show, Brantner did not have to be able to reach the bag with his hand to possess the pills. He could easily have told the officers at the time of his arrest "I have pills in my boot," relinquished control over them, and therefore dispossessed himself of them in Kenosha County. He did not.

Brantner also contends that he committed the crime only in Kenosha County because that "is the only location where there were opportunities for the substances to be abused." (See Brantner's Br. 19). Wisconsin § 961.41(3g) criminalizes possessing the pills without a prescription. Whether Brantner had an opportunity to abuse them in Fond du Lac is irrelevant. Brantner also makes several unclear arguments about the word "possess" in the jury instructions having a different meaning than the word "possess" in Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g), but supports them with no legal authority. (Brantner's Br. 17–19.)

Finally, he claims that a finding that venue was proper in this case will "open the door to" governmental abuse and manufacturing venue. (Brantner's Br. 21–23.) Brantner fails to recognize that the parade of horribles he claims will occur if venue is proper in this case are all entirely preventable: a defendant can relinquish possession by simply alerting the officers that he or she has contraband at the time of the encounter with law enforcement. The officers had no way of knowing Brantner had the pills in his boot. They did not learn of the pills and then intentionally drive him to Fond du Lac County. If Brantner did not want to be charged with possession in Fond du Lac County, he could have alerted the officers to the pills in his boot at the Kenosha County Courthouse. (R. 70:135.) Brantner had every opportunity to avoid any possibility of charges in Fond du Lac County, but instead he chose to continue to exercise control over the pills until they were taken from him at the jail.

Seemingly the only thing Brantner does not discuss is the sufficiency of the evidence test. (Brantner's Br. 12–23.)

Given that there was sufficient evidence for a rational jury to find that Brantner possessed the pills in Fond du Lac County, Brantner could not prevail even if his constitutional argument were sound. This Court should uphold the jury's verdict.

C. Brantner's constitutional argument is meritless.

1. General rules of constitutional interpretation.

In interpreting constitutional provisions, this Court's task is "to give effect to the intent of the framers and of the people who adopted it; and it is a rule of construction applicable to all constitutions that they are to be construed so as to promote the objects for which they were framed and adopted." *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 10, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328 (citation omitted). The court uses three sources to determine a provision's meaning:

"[T]he plain meaning of the words in the context used; the constitutional debates and the practices in existence at the time of the writing of the constitution; and the earliest interpretation of the provision by the legislature as manifested in the first law passed following adoption."

Id. (quoting *Thompson v. Craney*, 199 Wis. 2d 674, 680, 546 N.W.2d 123 (1996) (additional citations omitted)).

2. Brantner's argument is fundamentally flawed.

Brantner's constitutional claim is difficult to follow. He does not identify or discuss any of the proper sources of constitutional interpretation. (Brantner's Br. 12–14.) He notes that criminal venue in the federal system is controlled by Article III, § 2 of the federal Constitution, but Wisconsin has no corresponding constitutional provision. He states almost as an afterthought that "[v]enue in Wisconsin criminal cases is also governed by statute." (Brantner's Br. 14.) He then discusses policy arguments about the place of trial and claims Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g), the statute criminalizing possession of controlled substances, must be

construed "in light of the policies underlying the constitutional right to venue in criminal proceedings," because that is what the Supreme Court of the United States does when a federal statute "does not indicate where Congress considered the place of committing the crime to be." (Brantner's Br. 15.)

That is not how this Court interprets the Wisconsin Constitution, nor how it determines whether the State proved venue. Thompson, 199 Wis. 2d at 680; Lippold, 313 Wis. 2d 699, ¶ 10. And at any rate, the Supreme Court construes federal criminal statutes in the manner Brantner describes only if the location of the offense could be determined to be in multiple locations and Congress has not explicitly stated in the criminal statute where venue lies. See, e.g., Travis v. United States, 364 U.S. 631, 634–37 (1961); see also United States v. Flaxman, 304 F. Supp 1301, 1303 (S.D.N.Y 1969) ("Congress has the power to define elements of a crime carefully and give the executive power to prosecute it in any one of the districts in which the crucial elements of the crime are performed.") (citing Travis, 364 U.S. 631).

This makes sense for federal crimes: Congress has the power to enact criminal laws only as enumerated by the Constitution or that are "necessary and [p]roper" to carrying out its other legislative powers granted by the Constitution. See United States v. Comstock, 560 U.S. 126, 133–35 (2010). Because Congress's legislative authority is limited to national affairs that have some kind of interstate or extrastate effect, federal crimes are nearly always going to consist of acts completed over several states or several districts. In order to ensure proper Article III, § 2 venue, Congress needs to state statutorily where it believes the locus delicti of the crime to be, and if it does not, the federal courts must construe the statute in light of the Article III,

Filed 08-15-2019

§ 2 right to trial in the state where the crime was committed and the Sixth Amendment right to a jury chosen from that state and district.

Not so with state crimes. With the exception of ongoing offenses, state crimes are nearly always going to have a clear location where the criminal act was committed. Accordingly, unlike in the federal system, the Wisconsin criminal statutes do not themselves designate the place of the crime. And the Wisconsin Legislature has provided where it "consider[s] the place of committing the crime to be" when venue could be proper in multiple counties. (Brantner's Br. 15); see Wis. Stat. § 971.19. Brantner has made no argument that Wis. Stat. § 971.19 is unconstitutional, and could not prevail on such an argument even if this Court determined that Article I, § 7 provides a right to venue. Wis. Stat. § 971.19(1) ("Criminal actions shall be tried in the county where the crime was committed, except as otherwise provided."). In fact, Brantner has omitted any discussion of Wis. Stat. § 971.19 at all. (Brantner's Br. 12–22.)

Furthermore, when proper venue as described by the federal criminal statute could be found in the location where trial was had, whether the government proved venue is a question of fact for the jury, just as it is in Wisconsin. See United States v. Charlton, 372 F.2d 663, 664-65 (6th Cir. 1967) (citing *United States v. Johnson*, 323 U.S. 273 (1944)); *Lippold*, 313 Wis. 2d 699, ¶ 10.

In short, Brantner's analysis is simply off-point. This Court is not free to ignore the criminal venue statute enacted by the Legislature, which would meet any constitutional mandate that crimes be tried in the county where the offense was committed, if one existed. But, as the State will show, it does not. The constitution provides a right to a jury of the vicinage, not to venue.

- 3. The Wisconsin constitution provides a right to a jury of the vicinage; it does not establish venue.
 - a. The plain language of Article I, § 7, provides the right to a jury picked from the county where the offense was committed.

Article I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides that the accused has a right to "a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district wherein the offense shall have been committed; which county or district shall have been previously ascertained by law." Wis. Const. art. I, § 7.

The plain language of this provision shows that it secures a defendant a right to "an impartial jury of the county" in which the offense was committed. Wis. Const. art. I, § 7. It says nothing about the place of trial.

Accordingly, this Court, based on the language of the provision and the Supreme Court of the United States' construction of the nearly identical language in the Sixth Amendment and history of its drafting, has already determined that "Const. Art. 1, sec. 7 does not restrict venue. Rather, it restricts the locale from which the jury can be picked." State v. Mendoza, 80 Wis. 2d 122, 138 n.3, 258 N.W.2d 260 (1977). In other words, it secures a criminal defendant the common law right to be tried by a "jury of the vicinage." Id.; see also Williams v. Florida, 399 U.S. 78, 93–98.

"Jury of the vicinage" means a jury of the neighborhood, which was a closely guarded right at the time of the ratification of both the federal and Wisconsin constitutions. *Mendoza* 80 Wis. 2d at 138 n.3. Indeed, "the right to a jury of the county or district where the crime was

Filed 08-15-2019

committed is . . . a component of the right to a fair trial." *Id*. at 142. However, the right to a jury of the vicinage secures the "geographic area from which jurors in criminal proceedings must be drawn" and nothing more. The Sixth Amendment and the Right to a Trial by a Jury of the Vicinage, 31 Wash. & Lee L. Rev. 399, 399 (1974).

Criminal venue was a matter of common law, which Wisconsin has codified and established by statute since Wisconsin became a state. Wis. Stat. § 971.19; Ch. 147 R. S. 1849. And while many early decisions of this Court assumed that the two rights were indistinguishable, this Court in *Mendoza* noted that the two were not the same. *Mendoza*, 80 Wis. 2d at 143–44. It held "it unwise . . . to construe one right as contingent upon another. Both rights seek to insure the ultimate right to a fair trial." Id. at 143. The plain language of Article I, § 7 secures a right to a jury of the vicinage, and both the history of the drafting of the provision and the first statute passed by the Legislature after ratification confirm that interpretation.

> h. The constitutional debates and the practices in existence at the of the writing of the constitution Wisconsin show that the provision secures a right to a jury of the vicinage, not venue.

As this Court recognized in *Mendoza*, the language of Article I, § 7 mirrors the language of the Sixth Amendment to the Federal Constitution. *Mendoza*, 80 Wis. 2d at 138 n.3. But that does not help Brantner, as he appears to believe (see Brantner's Br. 13), because the Sixth Amendment, too, was meant to secure a right to a jury of the vicinage.

A history of the drafting of the Sixth Amendment, which was ratified 57 years before Wisconsin's constitution, shows that the Sixth Amendment also was meant to protect the right to a jury of the vicinage, not venue. *See Williams*, 399 U.S. 78.

The federal constitutional right to venue is conferred by a different Constitutional provision: U.S. Const. article III, § 2. It states, "[t]he trial of all crimes, except in cases of impeachment, shall be by jury; and such trial shall be held in the state where the said crimes shall have been committed; but when not committed within any state, the trial shall be at such place or places as the Congress may by law have directed." *Id*.

The Sixth Amendment was drafted specifically to allay fears among those who ratified the Constitution that Article III, § 2, "failed to preserve the common-law right to be tried by a 'jury of the vicinage" by giving Congress unfettered authority to determine the place of trial when the offense was not wholly committed in any state. *Williams*, 399 U.S. at 93.

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